929319

IN THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON

FILED
Mar 09-2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent

VS.

BURNICE R. THOMPSON,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Court of Appeals No. 74134-9-I
Appeal from the Superior Court for Thurston County
The Honorable Christine Schaller, Judge
Cause No. 13-1-01072-4

THOMAS E. DOYLE, WSBA NO. 10634 Attorney for Petitioner

P.O. Box 510 Hansville, WA 98340-0510 (360) 626-0148

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the trial court violated Thompson's double jeopardy rights by entering judgment against her for two counts of Medicaid false statement where the offenses merged with her conviction for theft in the first degree?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As provided in Thompson's Brief of Appellant, which sets out facts and law relevant to this petition and is hereby incorporated by reference, she was convicted of two counts of Medicaid false statement and one count of theft in the first degree. On appeal, she argued that the two false statement offenses merged with her convictions for theft in the first degree. Division I affirmed, reasoning that even if it accepted

Thompson's argument that the offenses merged [Slip Op. at 7], it would still affirm "because the legislature intended to consider theft and Medicaid false statement to be separate crimes and punished accordingly." [Slip Op. at 7]. This reasoning ignores the unique facts in this case.

E. ARGUMENT

It is submitted that the issue raised by this Petition should be addressed by this Court because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with Supreme Court and Court of Appeals decisions, and raises a significant question under the Constitution of the State of Washington and the Constitution of the United States, as set forth in RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3) and (4).

THOMPSON MAY NOT BE CONVICTED OF TWO COUNTS OF MEDICAID FALSE STATEMENT WHERE THE OFFENSES MERGED WITH HER CONVICTION FOR THEFT IN THE FIRST DEGREE.

The double jeopardy clauses of the state and federal constitutions prevent the imposition of multiple punishments for the same offense. U.S. Const. amend. 5; Const. art. 1, § 9; North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711, 717, 23 L. Ed. 2d 656, 89 S. Ct. 2072 (1969); In re Fletcher, 113 Wn.2d 42, 46-47, 776 P.2d 114 (1989). A concurrent sentence does not cure the violation. Ball v. United States, 470 U.S. 856, 865, 84 L. Ed. 2d 740, 105 S. Ct. 1668 (1985); State v. Adel, 136 Wn.2d 629, 632, 965 P.2d

1072 (1998); State v. Calle, 125 Wn.2d 769, 775, 888 P.2d 155 (1995). This court reviews double jeopardy claims de novo. State v. Hughes, 166 Wn. 2d 675, 681, 212 P.3d 558 (2009). The issue is whether the Legislature intended to authorize multiple punishments for criminal conduct that violates more than one criminal statute. Calle, 125 Wn.2d at 772; In re Pers. Restraint of Orange, 152 Wn.2d 795, 815, 100 P.3d 291 2004).

While Washington courts employ a three-prong analysis to determine legislative intent, In the Matter of Personal Restraint of

Anthony C. Burchfield, 111 Wn. App. 892, 895, 46 P.3d 840 (2002), at issue here is whether there is evidence that the Legislature intended to treat the relevant conduct as a single offense for double jeopardy purposes.

Id; State v. Frohs, 83 Wn. App. 803, 811, 924 P.2d 384 (1996). This merger doctrine "is simply another means by which a court may determine whether the imposition of multiple punishments violates the Fifth

Amendment guarantee against double jeopardy...." Id. The question is whether there is clear evidence that the Legislature intended not to punish the conduct at issue with two separate convictions. Calle, 125 Wn.2d at 778; State v. Vladovic, 99 Wn.2d 413, 418-19, 662 P.2d 853 (1983). If a defendant is convicted of two crimes, his or her second conviction will stand if that conviction is based on "some injury to the person or property

of the victim or others, which is separate and distinct from and not merely incidental to the crime of which it forms the element." State v. Johnson, 92 Wn.2d 671, 680, 600 P.2d 1249 (1979).

The trial court denied Thompson's post-trial motion to dismiss her two convictions for Medicaid false statement under the merger doctrine, holding:

... I do not find that the merger doctrine applies in this case or double jeopardy, because even if the crimes would merge if there was an independent purpose or effect to each, they may be punished as separate offenses. And I find that the Legislature intended to punish Medicaid false statement and theft separately, and therefore merger does not apply, and I deny the defense motion.

[RP 09/24/15 18].

When the conduct of one offense elevates the degree of the second offense, the offenses merge to avoid double jeopardy. State v. Vladovic, 99 Wn.2d at 419. Example: In State v. Kier, 164 Wn.2d 798, 194 P.3d 212 (2008), our Supreme Court determined that the Legislature did not intend to impose separate punishments for first degree robbery and second degree assault where the threat to use force—the assault—elevated the robbery to a first degree offense. Id. at 805.

In charging Thompson with theft in the first degree, the State alleged that between December 1, 2012 and April 30, 2013, she wrongfully obtained property belonging to the State of Washington "by

color or aid of deception by committing a series of transactions which were part of a criminal episode and/or a common scheme or plan in which the sum value of all said transactions exceeded \$5,000.00." [CP 168]. For the two counts of Medicaid false statement, which occurred on December 31, 2012 and February 4, 2013, it was further alleged for each respective count that Thompson "knowingly made a false statement or represented a material fact in an application for payment under a medical care program ... and/or having knowledge of the occurrence of an event affecting ... the initial or continued right to payment ... concealed or failed to disclose such event with an intent to fraudulently secure such payment either in greater amount or quantity than was due or when no such payment was authorized." [CP 95-96]. On September 11, 2014, the court entered findings and conclusions that Thompson was guilty as charged. [CP 203-226].

Reasoning that the statutes criminalizing Medicaid fraud and theft serve different purposes—protection of public health and welfare in connection with providing health service in the first instance, and protection of individuals and their private property in the latter—Division I, further noting the statutes are found in different RCW titles and chapters, concluded that the legislature intended to treat the offenses of

Medicaid false statement and theft "as separate crimes and punished accordingly." [Slip Op. at 7].

Division I's reasoning misses the point. As charged in this case, theft in the first degree required the wrongful taking of property of another by color or aid of deception through a series of transactions in which the sum exceeded \$5,000. Thompson did this by committing two counts of Medicaid false statement, with each instance resulting in a loss less than \$5,000. But by linking the two counts with the allegation in count I of theft in the first degree by a series of transactions that were part of a criminal episode and/or a common scheme or plan, the State elevated the theft to a first-degree offense by employing the same dynamic rejected in Kier, supra. Under these unique facts, it cannot be claimed that the Legislature intended to impose separate punishments for both offenses. See State v. Freeman, 153 Wn.2d 765, 778, 108 P.3d 753 (2005).

F. CONCLUSION

This court should accept review for the reasons indicated in Part E and reverse and dismiss Thompson's convictions for Medicaid false statement and to remand for resentencing.

//

¹ Theft of property or services which exceeds \$750 but not \$5,000 constitutes theft in the second degree, a class C felony. RCW 9A56.040. Theft of property which exceeds \$5,000 constitutes theft in the first degree, a class B felony. RCW 9A.56.030.