I. INTRODUCTION 

The opinion below correctly and narrowly applied existing double 

jeopardy and merger precedents to the specialized case of convictions for 

both Theft in the first degree and Medicaid false statement. As the Court of 

Appeals noted, the conduct that formed the basis for the Medicaid false 

statement convictions does not elevate the degree of the theft crime, so 

merger, as defined in case precedents, does not apply. Furthermore, the 

double jeopardy case precedents support the Court of Appeals' analysis of 

the legislative history, the location of the two crimes in the Revised Code of 

Washington, and the differing purposes of the two criminal statutes to 

conclude that the legislature intended the two crimes to be separate crimes 

and thereby to hold that there is no double jeopardy. Therefore, the opinion 

is not in conflict with any decision of this Court or of the Court of Appeals, 

does not raise a significant question of constitutional law, and does not 

involve an issue of such substantial public interest that it should be 

determined by the Supreme Court ofthe State of Washington. The State of 

Washington therefore respectfully asks this Court to deny Thompson's 

petition for review. 1 

1 The Court of Appeals granted the State's motion to publish this opinion on 
March 16, 2016. 



II. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Review is not warranted in this case, but if the Court were to grant 

review, the issue would be: 

Applying existing "double jeopardy" and merger precedents to the 

specialized case of convictions for both theft in the first degree and Medicaid 

false statement, do Thompson's convictions for theft in the first degree and 

Medicaid false statement constitute separate crimes for purposes of double 

jeopardy analysis? 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Bumice Renee Thompson submitted three separate false invoices 

to the Washington Department of Social and Health Services and 

wrongfully obtained payment in a total amount of over $5,000 from the 

State for Medicaid-funded in-home care services not rendered. Slip Op. at 

1-2. She was convicted of Medicaid false statement (two counts) and theft 

in the first degree. ld. at 2. 

Thompson appealed her convictions for Medicaid false statement 

to the Court of Appeals, arguing that the trial court had violated her 

constitutional right against double jeopardy because, she contended, the 

two Medicaid false statement convictions merged with her theft in the first 

degree conviction. ld. at 3. 
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The Court of Appeals (Division I) issued an unpublished opinion 

affirming Thompson's Medicaid false statement convictions. In the 

opinion, the Court noted that there was no apparent authority, and none 

cited by Thompson, for her merger argument. Id. at 6. The Court went on 

to hold that even if the crimes did merge, double jeopardy would still not 

apply. Id. at 6-7. An examination of legislative history, the differing 

purposes of the two criminal statutes, and the location of the two statutes 

in different chapters (and titles) of the Revised Code of Washington all 

establish that "the legislature intended to consider theft and Medicaid false 

statement to be separate crimes and punished accordingly." Id. at 7. The 

Court of Appeals then published this opinion, granting a motion from the 

State. Thompson now seeks review from this Court. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

Thompson's Petition for Review does not meet the standards for 

acceptance of review set out in RAP 13.4(b). Contrary to Thompson's 

assertion, the Court of Appeals' opinion does not conflict with any 

decision of this Court or of the Court of Appeals. Petition for Review at 2; 

see also RAP 13.4(b)(1),(2). In fact, Thompson fails to specifically 

articulate a conflict with any other case. Likewise, Thompson fails to 

provide any support for her bare assertion under RAP l3.4(b)(3) that the 

opinion "raises a significant question under the Constitution of the State of 
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Washington and the Constitution of the United States." Petition for 

Review at 2. Finally, Thompson's petition does not involve an issue of 

public interest so substantial as to warrant this Court's review. See 

RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

A. The Court of Appeals Opinion Does Not Conflict With Any 
Decision of This Court or of the Court of Appeals 

There are numerous cases explaining the general principles of the 

law of double jeopardy, and the opinion below merely applies those 

precedents to the crimes of theft in the first degree and Medicaid false 

statement. Thompson's petition does little more than recite these 

established precedents and state that "the decision of the Court of Appeals 

is in conflict with Supreme Court and Court of Appeals decisions," 

Petition for Review at 2, without any supporting proof or specific 

comparison to any case she claims is conflicting. She also fails to point to 

any case specifically involving Medicaid false statement and double 

jeopardy with which the Court of Appeals' opinion here specifically 

conflicts, and correctly so because there is no such case. 

1. The Court of Appeals correctly notes that the merger 
doctrine does not apply to Thompson's case 

One established test for double jeopardy is the doctrine of merger, 

which applies "when the degree of one offense is raised by conduct 

separately criminalized by the legislature." State v. Freeman, 153 Wn.2d 
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765, 772-773, 108 P.3d 753, 757 (2005). In that case, the Court 

"presume[ s] the legislature intended to punish both offenses through a 

greater sentence for the greater crime." Id. at 773. 

In support of her argument that Medicaid false statement merges 

with theft in the first degree, Thompson cites only State v. Kier, 164 

Wn.2d 798, 805, 194 P.3d 212, 215 (2008), in which this Court held that 

"in light of the way th[e] case was charged and presented to the jury," a 

conviction for assault in the second degree merged with a conviction for 

robbery in the first degree. See Petition for Review at 4, 6. 

However, the Court of Appeals correctly distinguished the Kier 

rationale--that the State had to prove the assault to elevate the robberies to 

first degree, Kier, 164 Wn.2d at 803-807--from Thompson's position, 

because Thompson "does not argue that proof of the conduct that resulted 

in her conviction of Medicaid false statement elevated the crime of theft to 

a higher degree," Slip Op. at 6. Thompson could not make this argument 

because "[t]he crime of Medicaid false statement does not require proof 

that any amount of money be obtained." Id. [footnote omitted]. Finally, 

the Court of Appeals correctly noted that "Thompson cites no authority" 

and that there is no apparent authority for her proposition "that merger 

results because aggregation of the amounts obtained as a result of the two 

crimes elevated the theft to first degree." !d. 
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In fact, Thompson's position is more analogous to cases where 

merger was found not to apply. For instance, the Court of Appeals has 

rejected the argument that a conviction for assault in the second degree 

merged with a conviction for attempted robbery in the first degree when 

the elevation of the attempted robbery in the first degree did not 

necessarily require proof of the assault. State v. Esparza, 135 Wn. App. 

54,64-66, 143 P.3d 612,616-618 (2006), review denied, 161 Wn.2d 1004, 

166 P .3d 719 (2007)( cited in Kier, 164 Wn.2d at 806-807). Similarly, the 

Court of Appeals rejected an argument that a conviction for assault in the 

second degree merged with a conviction for robbery in the first degree 

when the robbery was elevated to first degree not by evidence of the later 

assault but by evidence that the defendant's accomplice was armed with a 

deadly weapon. State v. Knight, 176 Wn. App. 936, 951-956, 309 P.3d 

776, 785-787 (2013), review denied, 179 Wn.2d 1021, 318 P.3d 279 

(2014). 

Like in Esparza and Knight, the elevation of Thompson's theft 

conviction to first degree did not depend upon proof of either or both 

Medicaid false statement crimes, but upon proof that the total dollar 

amount wrongfully obtained was over $5,000. Thus, the Court of Appeals 

correctly rejected Thompson's argument that merger applies to her case. 
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2. The Court of Appeals appropriately held that double 
jeopardy does not apply because the legislature 
intended theft in the first degree and Medicaid false 
statement to be separate crimes 

The Court of Appeals appropriately concluded that the legislature 

intended theft in the first degree and Medicaid false statement to be 

separate crimes based on legislative history, the separate placement of 

theft and Medicaid false statement in the Revised Code of Washington, 

and the differing purposes ofthe two statutes. Slip Op. at 6-7. The Court 

properly held that even if the convictions for theft in the first degree and 

Medicaid false statement did merge, double jeopardy would still not apply. 

!d. 

When a person is convicted of multiple crimes and claims a double 

jeopardy violation, the fundamental question is whether the legislature 

intended the crimes to be the same offense. See Freeman, 153 Wn.2d at 

777 ("The process is recursive, returning to the legislature's intent again 

and again."); In re Orange, 152 Wn.2d 795, 815, 100 P.3d 291, 301 

(2004) ("Where a defendant's act supports charges under two criminal 

statutes, a court weighing a double jeopardy challenge must determine 

whether, in light of legislative intent, the charged crimes constitute the 

same offense.") 
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Evidence of what the legislature intended may include "the 

statutes' historical development, legislative history, location in the 

criminal code, or the differing purposes for which they were enacted." In 

re Percer, 150 Wn.2d 41, 51, 75 P .3d 488, 493 (2003) (citing State v. 

Calle, 125 Wn.2d 769, 779-80, 888 P.2d 155, 160-161 (1995)); see also 

Calle, 125 Wn.2d at 780 ("[T]he differing purposes served by the incest 

and rape statutes, as well as their location in different chapters of the 

criminal code, are evidence of the Legislature's intent to punish them as 

separate offenses.") 

Thus, in reaching its conclusion as to legislative intent, the Court 

below appropriately analyzed legislative history, the placement of the 

crime of theft in the first degree and the crime of Medicaid false statement 

in different chapters (and titles) of the Revised Code of Washington, the 

purpose of other Medicaid-related statutes, and the purpose of the criminal 

Medicaid fraud statutes ("to protect public health and welfare in 

connection with providing health services") versus the purpose of the theft 

statutes (to "protect individuals and their private property"). Slip Op. at 

6-7 (citing Calle, 125 Wn.2d at 780-781; State v. Denny, 173 Wn. App. 

805, 809-810, 294 P.3d 862, 863-864 (2013); RCW 74.09.200; LAWS of 

2012, ch. 241, § 101). 
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Thompson provides no basis for her assertion that this "reasoning 

misses the point." Petition for Review at 6. Instead, she again cites Kier 

to suggest that merger applies. Jd. However, merger is merely a "tool for 

determining legislative intent in the context of double jeopardy." 

Freeman, 153 Wn.2d at 777. "[T]he most important question," on the 

other hand, is legislative intent, evidence of which "may be ... found in 

the legislative history, the structure of the statutes, the fact the two statutes 

are directed at eliminating different evils, or any other source of legislative 

intent." Jd. at 773. Even in cases where merger does apply, "both 

convictions will be allowed to stand where the legislative purpose for 

criminalizing the conduct or the harm associated with each crime is 

unique, that is, where the statutes in question address two separate evils." 

State v. Vermillion, 112 Wn. App. 844, 861, 51 P .3d 188, 197 (2002), 

review denied, 148 Wn.2d 1022, 66 P.3d 638 (2003). Here, Medicaid 

false statement addresses knowing fraud on the State with respect to its 

public health mandates, while theft addresses the wrongful and intentional 

appropriation of property belonging to another. 

Thus, the Court of Appeals properly determined that the legislature 

"intended to consider theft and Medicaid false statement to be separate 

crimes" and thereby appropriately concluded that double jeopardy does 

not apply. Slip Op. at 7. 
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B. The Court of Appeals Opinion Does Not Raise a Significant 
Question of Constitutional Law 

The Court of Appeals opinion narrowly applies well-established 

principles governing the determination of double jeopardy to the 

specialized case of convictions for both theft in the first degree and 

Medicaid false statement, the latter being a crime that is only referenced in 

three published cases, including Thompson's? The Court of Appeals did 

not depart from established cas~ law or announce any new tests. Even 

Thompson does not point to any significant legal changes wrought by the 

Court. Therefore, the opinion below does not raise "a significant question 

of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United 

States," RAP 13.4(b)(3). 

C. The Court of Appeals Opinion Does Not Involve an Issue of 
Public Interest So Substantial as to Warrant Determination by 
the Supreme Court 

The Court of Appeals Opinion only applies existing principles to a 

very specialized case. Therefore, it does not involve an issue of public 

interest so substantial as to warrant determination by the Supreme Court. 

RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

The State did successfully move for publication of this opinion, 

arguing in part that it is "of general public interest or importance," 

2 See State v. Wright, 183 Wn. App. 719, 334 P.3d 22 (2014); State v. Quinn, 43 
Wn. App. 696, 719 P.2d 936 (1986), review denied, 105 Wn.2d 1020 (1986). 
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RAP 12.3(e)(5). However, the "general public interest or importance" 

standard for purposes of publication is distinguishable from the "issue of 

substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme 

Court" necessary for acceptance of a petition for review. RAP 12.3(e)(5) 

(emphasis added); RAP 13.4(b)(4) (emphasis added). 

Publication ensures that an issue of statutory analysis and 

legislative intent will not needlessly be re-litigated in Medicaid fraud 

cases, preserving resources. Furthermore, publication puts Medicaid 

healthcare providers on notice that, if they engage in criminal fraudulent 

conduct, they will be held accountable both for material false statements 

made to the State Medicaid system and for theft from the State Medicaid 

system. For these reasons, the opinion below meets the "general public 

interest or importance" standard for publication. 

However, the opinion below does not substantially impact the 

State's legal system by changing longstanding precedent or any known 

decision of any Washington trial court. (In Thompson's case, the opinion 

affirmed the original ruling of the trial court. Slip Op. at 8.) The opinion 

does not substantially impact the public but primarily impacts the State's 

ability to hold accountable those providers who defraud the State's 

Medicaid system. Therefore, Thompson's Petition for Review does not 
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involve an issue of such "substantial public interest that [it] should be 

determined by the Supreme Court," RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

V. CONCLUSION 

For the above stated reasons, the State of Washington respectfully 

requests that this Court deny Thompson's Petition for Review. The 

petition does not establish any of the exclusive grounds for acceptance set 

out in RAP 13 .4(b) because the opinion below correctly applies existing 

precedent to a specialized situation and does not involve a significant 

constitutional question or an issue of public interest so substantial that it 

should be resolved by the highest Court in the State.